
CANNINGTON COURT 

BY A. W . VIVIAN-NEAL, M.C., D.L., F.S.A. 

These notes, written in part several years since for another 
purpose, review the histo ry of a house visited by the 
Somerset A rchaeological and Natural History Society in 
June, 1960. The writer has introduced material not available 
when Canyngton Priory' was compiled by Thomas Hugo 
almost a hundred years ago: that work, however, remains 

the standard authority. 

In the course of one of his later journeys, John Leland came to 
Cannington and found the place "a pratty uplandisch towne"- a 
description often quoted. The visit took place not long after the 
dissolution of the rel igio us houses, and Leland set down in his note 
book that there had been "a Priory of Nunnes whos Chirch was hard 
anexid to the Est of the Paroch Chirch" . 

The history of the priory of Cannington was closely bound up 
with that of Stogursey Castle - distant some four miles to the north­
west - whose successive lords, during a lmost four hundred years, 
were its patrons and chief benefactors. 

Stoke, known later as Stoke Curci and more recently as Stogursey, 
was granted by the Conqueror to William de Falaise, o ne of his most 
favoured followers. Although he held few manors in Somerset, 
William de Falaise and his wife, Geva de Burci , made Stoke a place 
of importance and founded a small priory there - a cell for a few 
monks from the abbey of Lonlay in Normandy. 

Emma, t he daughter and heiress of William de Falaise, married 
William de Curci, who enhanced the importance of Stoke by making 
it the head of the honor of Curci. He held estates in several counties, 
each estate being comparatively small as was the Norman custom. 
Sto ke was held in succession by the son, the grandson, and the 
great-grandson of William de Curci. There were kindred in 
Normandy and in this country, and among them many notable men; 
indeed , few fam ilies provided the Norman and ea rly Plantagenet 
kings with m ore counci llors and warrior-statesmen2 . 

I Proc. S.A.S. XI (1861-2); 1-lugo's Nunneries of Somerset. 

2 For the de Curci family, see Curci by Sir He1Jry Maxwell Lyle, Proc. S.A.S., 
LXVI, ii, 98-126; Stogursey Charters, ed. by T . D. Tremlelt and Noel Blakiston, 
S .R.S., LXJ. 
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It is not known whether the first castle at Stoke was buil t by 
William de Falaise or by William de Curci . The low mound , now 
surmounted by the remains of a late medieval castle, may indicate 
the si te of an early Norman mote. There a re still signs of a great 
o uter baily, added, it must be presumed, in the reign of Stephen, 
though perhaps strengthened at the beginning of t he th irteenth 
century. 

The s iting of castles in England, except during the reign of 
Stephen, was not left to the whims of the feudal lords. Clearly, 
control was exercised by the king long before formal licences ' to 
crenelate' were introduced. 

The first William de Mohun ruled Somerset as vice-regal sheriff 
from his castle at Dunster, w here there was an isolated hi ll, irresis­
tible to a castle-minded baron, but t he site was not well-placed to 
fo rm a uni t in a concerted plan for the defence o f the whole south­
west of England, and when Stogursey castle was built, Dunster 
waned in importance. 

On t hose occasio ns after the death o f the Conqueror, when there 
was danger of invasion from France, it appears to have been part 
of the defence policy of the Plantagenet kings to maintain t he castles 
of Corfe, Sherborne , Taunton and Stogursey - held e ither by the 
sheriff, o r by a bishop or by a loyal baron - to protect the vulner­
able territory between the Dorset coast a nd the mouth of the Parrett. 
When Bridgwater castle was built in the reign of king John , Stogursey 
castle was at first considered redundant. To ensure unity of control, 
Somerset and Dorset were held by a single sheriff. 

The de Curci barons cannot have lived at Stoke continuously for 
a ny considerable period, for they were in frequent attenda nce on t he 
sovereign and travelled in consequence from place to place in 
England and on the continent ; but when t hey were free from duty 
at the peripatetic court, it must have been necessary for them to 
visit their estates . Their wives and chi ldren were not a lways taken 
o n their arduous jo urneys and were, it may be supposed, often left 
at Stoke - the caput haroniae. 

No doubt the de C urci barons liked to pass as much time as 
possible where sport was good, and nowhere on their estates can it 
have been better than in the neighbourhood of the Quantock hills. 
There was the happy routine of the deer-shooting, for deer were 
more often d riven and shot from a mbush with bow and a rrow than 
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hunted in the modern sense. There was hawking - most exquisite 
of all sports - on the hills o r over the lagoons of the Parrett. There 
was, too, every kind of fishing, if fishing were regarded as anything 
but a utilitarian occupation. 

It was not found that the priory at Stoke p rovided all that was 
required to fulfi l the spiritual needs of the de Curci family, and at 
a date unknown, but in the mid-twelfth century, a de Curci founded 
the priory of Benedictine nuns at Cannington. There is a statement 
in the Va/or Ecc!esiasticus that Robert de Curci was the founder. 
Several members of the fami ly bore the name Robert, but none of 
them seems to have held the lands which formed the endowment of 
the priory, and it is more probable that the founder was William 
de Curci JI, known as "the steward", and that he made the gift for 
t he soul of his brother, Robert. It is certain that this William de Curci 
made a grant to the abbey of St. Martin of Marmoutier and the 
p riory of St. Yigor-en-Perrieres for the souls of his brothers Richard 
and Robert. 

In the late thirteenth centu ry there was a nun of Cannington 
called Maud de Meriet, who may have become prioress. When she 
died, her heart was buried in a niche specially constructed in the 
north a isle of Combe Florey Church among the graves of t he 
de Meriets of Hestercombe. T he inscription on a narrow slab of 
hard, black stone may still be seen: 

L E QUER DAME MAUD D E MERRIETE NONAYNE DE CANYNTUNE 

The lettering is in bold Lombardic capitals, beautifully designed, 
and of a quality reminiscent of a somewhat earlier manuscript. 

T he names of cer tain of those who were members of the com­
munity at Cannington at various periods have been preserved. 
The sisters came in many cases from families of knightly status in 
Somerset, Dorset and Devon. There were also among them da ughters 
o f rich burgesses of the same counties. The house was used as a 
retreat by the relations and friends of the nuns, and was doubtless a 
centre of education and learning, serving a useful purpose in the 
neighbourhood. 

The priory of Cannington was never rich, nor was the com­
munity ever large. The number of fully professed sisters does not 
seem to have exceeded twelve or thirteen at any time. Again and 
again the nuns of Cannington were exempt from the payment of 
subsidies on account of their poverty. Their chief endowment was 
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the manor and rectory of Cannington. It must not be supposed, 
however, that they were indigent because their income was sma ll, 
for the lords of Stoke and the relat ives of the sisters were generous 
in donations for building and repair and other needs. 

There is a story that Cannington was the birth-place of the 
celebrated Rosamund de C lifford, and that "within the walls o f its 
priory she received such a n ed ucation as the age affo rded". Whether 
the story has the slightest foundation has not been established , nor 
even whether it is of any great antiq uity. Little is known with 
certainty of Fa ir Rosam und except that Henry I l bui lt several 
bowers or, in modern parla nce, small houses for her occupation, 
a nd that when she died in 1177 her body was buried in the choir of 
Godstow N unnery, near Woodstock. The king caused a n elabora t<c 
mon ument to be erected over her grave, but after his death, St. Hugh 
of Avalon, bishop of Lincoln, forced the nuns to have the tomb 
demolished, and the body of Rosamund reburied outside their 
Church. He feared - a nd apparent ly not without reason - that 
miracles would be alleged to take place in its vicinity. We a re 
obl iged to accept the fami liar trappings of Rosamund's story - the 
maze at Woodstock, the sil ken clue, the dagger a nd the bowl of 
poison - as figments of imagi nation int roduced in a later age. 
There is reason lo believe, however, that she was a patroness of the 
arts and expert in embroidery. 

The last of the de C urci lords of Stoke of the ma le line died 
c. 1194. The heiress was his sister, A lice, widow of Henry de Cornhi ll, 
by whom she had had a daughter, Joan, whose wardship was sold 
by the crown in 1196 to Hugh de Nevil le. Eventually he ma rried her. 
In 11 97, Warin FitzGerold , cha m berlain of the royal excheq uer , 
bought the hand of Alice de Cornhill from Richard I for the enor­
mous sum o f a thousand marks, and thus acq ui red the honor of 
Curci a nd, incidentally, the patronage of Cannington priory. The 
patronage was attached to the manor of Radway in Cannington, a 
member of the honor. 

The FitzGerolds were on good terms with king John in the early 
years of his reign. He stayed at Stogursey as their guest when he 
was on a hunting expedition in September 12 10, and gave his host 
20s. for his play (ad ludum suum). I n course of t ime, Warin's relations 
with the king deterio rated, a nd he was one of the barons responsible 
for t he terms of Magna Carra. 
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Alice FitzGerold had by her second husband a daughter, 
Margaret, who was married at an early age to Baldwin de Redvers, 
son and heir apparent of William, earl of Devon. The fortunes to 
which they were the heirs were both very considerable. On I September 
1216, Baldwin died aged on ly about sixteen years. Margaret had 
a lready borne him a son . Although her father was still living, she 
fell into the clutches of k ing John, who withi n seven weeks of 
Baldwin's death compelled her to marry t he notorious Fa lk de 
Breaute. The death of king John occurred a few days after the 
marriage, and one of the first acts of Henry 1H, or of those act ing 
in his name, was to cause Falk to have seisin of Stogursey. 

The nuns of Cannington can have had noth ing to fear fro m 
Warin FitzGerold, but it is not to be believed that Falk resisted 
the temptation to bully them provided by his position as patron, 
for "he feared not God, neither regarded man". It is recorded that 
in the days of his greatness, when he was a lmost as powerfur as the 
king, havi ng slain a monk of St. Alban's and appropriated much 
property belonging to the community, he was a larmed by a dream. 
It seemed to him that a huge stone fell from the tower of the Abbey 
and crushed him. On the advice of his wife, he sent a message to 
the abbot of St. Alban's and later strode into the chapter-house o f 
the abbey, carrying a bi rch rod and followed by a train of knights 
similarly equipped. Thereupon Falk stripped and was flogged by 
the monks, afterwards receiving absolution; but before leaving the 
chapter-house he defied the abbot and refused restitution of the 
stolen property. Modern historians have quoted the story to show 
that Falk had some religious, or at any rate superstitious, feeling. 
The medieval chroniclers were awed and fascinated by his iniquity. 

The famous siege of Stogursey, which took place in 1224, was 
followed by the fall of Falk de Breaute. H ugh de Neville was a llowed 
to hold Stoke in right of his wife, the elder daughter of Alice de Curci. 
In 1266, his grandson, another Hugh de Neville, supported the 
popular side in the barons' war, and t he castle was bestowed on 
Robert Waleran, a t rusted servant of Prince Edward. Orders for the 
destruction of Stogursey castle had been given at frequent intervals 
since the death of king John, and it is inferred that it was little but 
a heap of rubble when Walera n took possession. He held a position 
corresponding to that of a modern Qua1iem1aster-General, and in 
view of the danger of attack from Wales, seems to have been 
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a utho rized to build , within the enceinte of the demolished walls, the 
small castle of which the ruins still remain. 

On t he death of Robert Waleran in 1273, he was succeeded by 
his nephew, Robert, who was menta lly deficient (fatuus) . Robert 
was in t urn succeeded by his brother, John, who a lso was mentally 
deficient, but l ived until 1309. T heir relatives, sir A lan Plukenet, and 
his son of the same name, acted successively as guardians of the 
unfortunate brot hers. T he younger sir A la n was found in 1309 to 
be t he heir of Stoke, but Stogursey, Radway a nd the hundred of 
Cannington were transfer red to sir Robert Fitzpaine, first lord 
F itzpaine, in whose hands t hey had been since March 1308. No 
doubt this was fortunate for the nuns o f Cannington; the younger 
sir A lan was over-masterful, as may be judged from a letter written 
in June 1315 by bishop John de Drokensford to the rectors of Cu rry 
Malet and T intinhull . T he bishop explained that sir Alan's mother, 
lady de Plukenet , who had lately died, had wi lled her body to be 
buried in Sherborne M inster, but that her son had buried her in a 
more humble place. Desir ing to give effect to the wishes of t he 
deceased , the bishop had sent the rural dean of Crewkerne to sir 
A lan at Haselbury with a letter monitory, but the said knight in his 
rage seized the rural dean by the throat and squeezed out blood. 
The rural dean escaped, but sir Alan retook him and made him 
swallow the letter and the wax seal. Upon the facts becoming known, 
a sentence of major excommunication ensued, but the knight 
proceeded to remove the heart from the body, thereby incurring a 
further excommunication. He intended , no doubt, to bury the body 
a t Sherborne and the heart at Haselbury3 . The two rectors were 
instructed to cite sir Alan to appear before the bishop. A copy of 
the letter was to be served in the manor house of Haselbury or was 
to be placed on the altar of the parish C hurch. Sir Ala n obeyed, and 
o n being charged with having fo rced the rural dean to swallow the 
letter monitory, denied it, stating that not believing the dean to be 
the bishop's messenger, he had indeed caused liim to be severely 
beaten; there had been no other ill-treatment. He admitted that he 
saw the dean swallow the letter, but uncompelled, though he 
supposed the dean might have been a la rmed by his threats. His 

3 The practice of heart-buria l was not approved by the ecclesiastical authorities; 
indeed, sir John de Meriet had been excommunicated in the previous year 
occasione exenterationis 11xori.1· .rnae def1111ctae. S.R.S., I, 70, 88-90. 
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conscience was much grieved. The bishop , considering his contrition, 
pronounced absolution, and on condition of his satisfying the 
injured dean , restored him to the unity of the Church. 

Thefirst lo rd Fitzpaine having diedin l3 I 5 wassucceededby his son , 
a nd early in I 3 I 7, the prioress of Cannington, Emma de Bytelescomb, 
l'csigned her office4 . There was some irregularity in the election of 
the new prioress, and the bishop Jo hn de Drokensford intervened. 
He issued a comm ission to Thomas de Dillington, precentor, and 
Anthony de Bradeney, canon of Wells, empowering them as he was 
prevented from being present in person, on Tuesday next a fter the 
feast of St. Mark, in the Church of Wi veliscombe, to examine and 
proceed against certain de linquents and certain misbehaving sisters 
of the priory of Cannington, and a lso to prorogue the enquiry to 
the next juridical day after t he feast of the Invention of the Holy 
Cross. The commission was dated 24 April I 317. Accordingly, on 
4 May, Agnes de Novo Mercato a nd Sybi lla de Horsey, s isters of 
the house, a ppeared persona lly before the bishop, the former on 
her own pa rt and that of her s isters, and presented dame Matilda 
de Morton , who also a ppeared in person, as elected to the office of 
prioress. On her being questioned whether a ll thi ngs had been done 
in the election according t o law, it was found that the presentation 
was without the necessary authority. The act was accor~ingly 
pronounced in valid, but at the sisters' urgent entreaty and the req uest 
of lord Fitzpaine, the patron, who was a lso present, a not her day 
was assigned. On 10 May, Matilda de Morton appeared before the 
bishop's commissaries, with the sisters, Agnes de Novo Mercato a nd 
Amabilia Trivet. Agnes exhibi ted a written declaration by which it 
a ppea red that she and Amabi lia were e mpowered to petition in thei r 
own name and that of the convent that the previous election should 
be con firmed. It was further decla red verbally by Gilbert de Shepton , 
clerk , that the election had taken place after t he usual religious 
solemn ities, a nd that it was irrevocable. In conclusion, there was 
ex hibited the decree of the election, which had been proceeded with 
only after the bishop's acceptance of the resignation of dame Emma 
de Bytelescomb, and after the permission of the pat ron to elect a 
successor had been obtained . 

4 The incident here recorded and the deta iled particulars of the affa irs of the 
Priory which fo llow, as far as the a ppointment of Joha nna Gofyse as prioress 
in 1440, are taken from Hugo's Ca11y11g1011 Priory. 
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The commissaries thereupon gave notice to all objectors to 
declare the reason for their opposition, and appointed 3 1 May fo r 
the next hearing. The bishop issued a new commission to Henry 
de Schanyngton, a rchdeacon of Taunton, Thomas de Dillington, 
precentor, Anthony de Bradeney a nd William de Lanton, canons 
of Wells, and Richard de Ford, doctor of laws, to examine the 
election of Matilda de Morton, the enquiry to be made on the 
appointed day in the chapter-house of the priory. A specia l enquiry 
regarding the voting was to be made secretly and "one by one", and 
the commissaries were to hear any who desired to offer objections to 
the election, and to send to t he bishop on the Thursday following 
a fa ithful account of their proceed ings, under the sea ls of fo ur or at 
least three of them. They were a lso to assign 9 June for another 
meeting which was to be held in the parish Church of Cannington, 
when they were to proceed in the ma tter of a new election. 

On 31 May, Matilda and the sisters being present, after the 
reading of the commission, the opponents were cited to appear a nd 
offer their objections accordi ng to law. Upon this, Johanna de 
Bratton (or de Bracton), a nun of the priory, fully professed, ex­
hibited in writing a petition against the election a nd the person of 
the elect. The commissaries, having given he r the aid of counsel in 
accordance with her request, proceeded to investigate the objections 
calli ng before them and examining several of the sisters. Unfort un­
ately the record does not particularise the objections. It may be 
noted that sister Johanna, who was so insistent on the letter of the 
law, bore the surname of the great jurist who had died in 1268. 
He was a west-cou ntryman and is thought to have come from 
Bratton near Minehead . 

On 9 June, the commissaries met in the parish C hurch of 
Ca nnington and heard the evidence of the fo llowin g sisters, Margery 
de Wythe!, Johanna de Bere, Eugenia Durdent, Alice de Scolond, 
Alice de Hydon, Johan na de Scolond and Agnes Baril. 

On 17 June there was a hearing in the parish Church of Langport 
where they seem to have examined Walter de Lof, Wi ll iam de 
Kingeston, John de Sattesden and others. That day and the Saturday 
following were occupied in these proceedings. The wi tnesses were 
examined under oath a nd their answers written down in full. At 
length the commissaries pronounced sentences. They found the 
election of Mati lda de Morton, who was unfit and unworthy, "to 
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be none, fri volous, of no effect , and a ltogether without force". 
Further they declared the nuns to have lost their power of election 
for that t urn, and that the appointment had d evolved on the bishop 
o r his commissaries. They thereupon selected Johanna de Bere, a 
nun professed, of lawful age, born of lawful wedlock, able to defend 
the rights of the priory, of known c ircu mspection both in temporal 
a nd spiritua l affairs, to be prioress of Cannington. 

The matter, however, did not rest there. O n 12 July, the bishop 
issued anothe r commission . It was addressed to the a rchdeacon of 
Taunton and William de Lanto n, canon of Wells. An infringement 
of the bishop's jurisdiction was a lleged and contempt of his office. 
What answer was returned is not known, but a few weeks later a 
commission was addressed to John de Godelee, dean of Wells, and 
master Henry de Pencery, to accept the resignation of dame Johanna 
de Beare canonically appointed by the bishop to the office of prioress. 
The new commissaries were empowered to select some competent 
sister to fill the vacancy. They chose Matilda de Morton , whom 
their predecessors had rejected. 

In 1332, lord Fitzpaine gave twenty-four acres of land in 
Cannington and Radway to t he priory in a id o f the maintenance of 
a chaplain to celebrate every day in the Church of Cannington for 
his soul and for the souls of his ancesters and heirs. 

Ralph de Salopia, bishop of Bath a nd Wells, addressed a letter 
to dame Matilda in 1333 chiding her for not having admitted Alice 
de Northlode as a nun of the house in accordance with his directions 
when he was consecrated bishop in 1329. He had claimed the right 
to appoint a nun in virtue of his recent election after the custom of 
his p redecessors. If t he nuns had doubts as to the suitability of 
Alice de NorthJode for the religious li fe, t hey were j ustified in the 
seq uel. 

After ruling the priory for nearly seventeen years, dame Matilda 
resigned her office o n 12 January 1334. 

Sister Willelma de Blanchyngdon was elected prioress on the 
resignatio n o f dame Matilda, but d ied two years later on 4 May I 336. 
T he record of t he election of t he new prioress was entered in the 
bishop's register with a wealth of detail. Johanna de Bractone, now 
sub-prioress, wrote t o the bishop informing him of the death of 
dame Wil lelma de Blachyngdon, a nd after the customary expression 
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of obedience, proceeded to give him the particulars of the elect ion 
of the successor. Further particulars were given in the notary's 
certificate. After the burial of the deceased prioress, and the pet ition 
for and reception of the licence to elect from the patron, lo rd 
Fitzpaine, the sisterhood met in their c hapter house on 16 May a nd 
appointed the day following for the election. On that day they again 
met and appointed sister Lucy de Raleghe as their procurator. 
All under ecclesiastical suspension or interdict were then ordered to 
depart, and three of the s isters Johanna de Beare, Christina Robe 
and Alice de Holtham, were selected as scrutato rs to take the votes. 
enter them in writing, a nd afterwards publish them. They retired to 
a corner of the chapter-house and took the votes secretly and one 
by one. As Agnes de Neu marc h was con fined to her bed, t he scruta­
tors waited on her and received her vote. It appears that there was 
no secret ba llot, but that the votes were announced with the names 
of the voters. Christina Robe, A lice de Holtham , Margaret de 
H ampton , A vice Reyners, Lucy de Popham, J ohanna de Alwynesheye, 
Matilda de North lode, Johanna Trimelet, Alice de Northlode, a nd 
Agnes de Nywemarch were for Johanna de Beare. The names of the 
sisters are given with the variety of spelling of the original record. 
Johanna de Bracton, sub-prioress, and Johanna de Beare were for 
Aviee Reyners, and Lucy de Raleghe was for Johanna de Bracton. 
Thus Johanna de Beare who had been appointed prioress by the 
bishop nineteen years before, but had a lmost at once been directed 
to resign the office, was elected prioress in the end. Alice de Ho ltham 
solemn ly read the election to the assembled sisterhood. They then 
sang Te Deum, and bore the elect to the high a ltar according to 
custom, and the same Alice de Holtham, to whom they deputed 
that duty, announced the election to the clergy a nd a g reat number 
of the laity there present. Afterwards, "about the sixth hour o f the 
sa me day, the election of sa id elect was presented to her by the said 
Alice, and she was questioned as to her assent. The said Joha nna 
elect repl ied that she wished to deliberate, and having been again 
questioned a nd repeatedly urged to comply by the said Alice, in the 
evening of the same day, being unwilling to resist the Divine will , 
declared her assent" . 

The notary stated that John de Middelton , rector of Shepton 
Beauchamp, and Stephen Tryppe, rector of West Camel, were 
present, and that the fonner of them announced the election. On 
3 June, being at Wiveliscombe, the bishop confirmed the election, 
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s ignified his confirmation to the patron, directed the a rchdeacon of 
Taunton to install the prioress, and wro te to the su b-prioress and 
convent instructing them to accept t he elect and to pay her due and 
canonical obedience. 

In October 1336 the bishop wrote to the prioress in very quaint 
French giving permission for two ladies, Johanna Wason and 
Maud Poer, with t wo dammoisel/es, to sojourn at the p riory till 
Easter. Several simila r permissions have survived, and it may be 
inferred that the guest roo ms were generally occupied. If the wife of 
the patron wished to sojourn at the priory, no episcopal permission 
would have been required, and reading between the lines of the 
records which have come down to us, we a re constrained t o believe 
that Ela, the wife of lord Fitzpaine, avai led herself of the privilege. 
Her indiscretions scandalized the a rchbishop of Canterbury and the 
bishop of Ba th and Wells5 . 

Joha nna de Beare died in 1343. She was succeeded as prioress 
by A vice de Reigners, whose rule a t Cannington coincided with an 
unha ppy period in English monasticism. The idealism of t he t hir­
teenth century had faded. Successive epidemics of the black death 
were reacting strangely on public morality. lt was reported to the 
bishop that all was not well at Cannington, and o n 21 October 1351, 
he appointed a commission to enquire into the a lleged irregularities. 
The commission found that three of the nuns, one of whom was 
s ister Alice de NorthJode who had been forced on the community 
by the bishop, had n o t behaved in a becoming manner. The prioress 
herself had been guilty of simony a nd other rnisdemeanours. The 
commissioners directed that unt il it should be otherwise ordered, 
two of the sisters, discreet and circumspect, should be joined with 
t he prioress in the administration of the temporal it ies of the house, 
and that no secula r person should be allowed to sojourn therein. 
The government of the priory was thenceforth to be more stringent. 
There is n o reason t o suppose t hat there was any recurrence of such 
unfortunate incidents as those o f 1351. 

In 1354 permission was granted to lsolda, wife of John Bicombe, 
to reside in the priory from Ma rch until August. Lord Fitzpaine 
died in November o f the same year, a nd E la , lady Fitzpaine survived 
him only unti l February 1356. Her daughter, Isabel, was depri ved 

5 S.R.S., IX, 87. 
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of the greater part of the Fitzpaine inheritance, and Stogursey castle, 
the manor of Radway with the patronage of Can nington priory, a nd 
the hundred of Cannington and much other prope rty passed to 
si r Robert de Grey, whose mother had been a Fitzpaine, unde r a 
settlement made in 1324. Sir Robert at once took the na me Fitzpain e. 
He was never summoned to parliament as a baron, a nd the cla im to 
the Fitzpaine harony so often pressed by his descendants the Percys, 
was clearly without foundation . T he claim to the barony rested with 
the heirs of Isabel, who married sir John Chidiock of Chidiock in 
Dorset. Sir John gave the rent and advowson of the C hu rch of 
Witheridge in Devon to Cannington prio ry in 1354. This was a 
valuable accession to the nuns. Their o riginal endowments, which 
had been no mo re than sufficient two hundred years earlier, were 
no longer adeq uate. 

The survivi ng records of the priory fro m the death of bishop 
Ralph de Salopia in 1363 until the d issolution of the priory arc 
neither full nor numerous. 

A certain Roger Montfort died in 1368. He was fo und al an 
enquiry, held at ll minsler two years later, to have been an outlaw 
possessed of no lands on the day of the promulgation of his out­
lawry, or afterwards till his death, but o nly of a corrody for li fe at 
Cannington by concession of the prioress. The corrody was of the 
yearly val ue of forty shillings. The sheriff of Somerset was the 
receiver of the said corrody for the use of the king. 

In I 382, Robert C rosse, parson of the Church of Spaxton, gave 
six messuages, one hundred a nd nine acres of a rable la nd, and 
eight acres of meadow, with appurtenances, in Pawlett, to the 
prioress and convent, for her and her successors, to find two 
sufficient and good wax candles, of the kind called ' torches', one 
at the right and one at the left of the high a lta r in the priory Church, 
to burn thro ugh and from the t ime of the consecration of the ele­
ment s daily to the conclusion of the service. 

In 1412 the prioress Johanna - we do not know her surname 
with certainty but she may have been a de C hesildon - found her­
self involved in a legal rrocess for neglect and vio lation of contract. 
At an enquiry held at Stogursey before Robert Veele, the king's 
escheator in Somerset, it was found that the 'dominus de Coursy' 
had at some former t ime given to the prioress of Cannington a nd 
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her successors certain lands, tenements, meadows, pastures, wood, 
and the tithes of corn, and t he rest of the small t ithes in Pederdam 
by Combwich and in Combwich, to find a fit chaplain who should 
celebrate divine service for ever, praying for the souls of the kings 
o r England and their successors; to wit, in the chapel of St. Leonard 
at Combwich, on every other Sunday and on every other double 
fest ival t hroughout the year; and also in the chapel of St. James at 
Pederdam, on every other Sunday and on every other double festival 
throughout t he year ; that the prioress had ceased to find such a 
chaplain for the chapel of St. James at Pederdam for the five years 
last past ; t hat the lands and tithes in Pederdam were of the annual 
value of four mares, and in Combwich of ten mares; and further, 
that the prioress had appropriated the issues and profits. The 
prioress was accordingly called to account, and the case was heard 
in Trinity Term, 1414. The barons of the Court of Exchequer 
agreed that the prioress should be warned by writ or scire facias to 
show cause why she should not account and do satisfaction to the 
king out of the profits of the said lands from the time of cessation 
o f divine service to that of the present hearing. After various legal 
p reliminaries, the prioress replied by Richa rd Hukelegh, her 
attorney, that - " inasmuch as in the aforesa id Inquisition no 
finding was arrived at as to what name the aforesaid lord d e Cursy 
bore, nor what lands or tithes were given to the aforesaid prede­
cessor of the prioress and her successors, nor that the lands a nd 
tithes aforesaid were given before or after the passing of the Statute 
or Mortmain, nor that the king nor any of his progenito rs were the 
fo unders or t he church or priory of Cannington, nor that the then 
king nor an y of his progenitors had given the aforesa id la nds and 
tithes or any other to the aforesa id prioress or any of her prede­
cessors - she sought a cessation or the action and a re lease in 
respect or the issues specified". "The judges ruled in her favour, and 
decided that the Inq uisit ion was not sufficient in law for putting the 
prioress on her answer, or for the delivery and seisin of the aforesaid 
lands and tithes into t he king's hand, or fo r burdening the prioress 
in respect of their issues. Judgment was accordingly given fo r the 
defendant" . It would not have been convenient to t he prioress to 
produce her charters, but it is tantalizing not to know whether t he 
early documents of the priory had a lready been lost, nor whether 
there was already an element or uncertaint y about the ident it y of 
the founder and early benefactors. 
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The reason for the cessation of service at Pederdam was, no 
doubt, that the vi llage was suffering from the inundations which 
eventually destroyed it. A Jetter from Pope Martin V. written in 
1427 refers to injury sustained by t he priory of Cannington propter 
ipsius maris fluxus et refluxus et alias di versos casus. 

ln 1440, the prioress Johanna de Chesildon died, and sister 
Johanna Gofyse or Gouvis was elected in her place. T he fo rmer may 
well have been a daughter of John Chesildon , sq uire of H olcombe 
Rogus. The latter must have belonged to t he very ancient Norman 
fami ly of the Gouvis, long seated at Kingsdon in Somerset, and 
which was sti ll represented in Dorset at that time. 

The ownership of Stogursey and the patronage of Cannington 
were acquired by R ichard, lord Poynings, t hrough his marriage to 
Jsabel, daughter of sir Robert Fitzpaine. Lord Poynings died at 
Vi llalpando in Spain in 1387. In due course his grand-daughter, 
Alianor, brought the Poynings estates to her husband, Henry Percy, 
who was summoned to parliament as lord Poynings. In 1445, he 
succeeded his father as earl of Notihumberland, and in 1461, he 
was k illed at the battle of Towton leading the vanguard of the 
Lancastrians. It was while he was in possession of Stogursey, t hat 
Henry VJ bestowed the endowment of the a lien priory there on t he 
new foundation at Eton. After the battle of Towton, t he estates of 
the Percys were forfei ted by attainder, but Al ianor Poynings was 
permitted to keep Stogursey and certain other properties of her own 
inheritance. Her son was imprisoned in t he Tower of London from 
1461 to 1469, and during those years she was certainly patroness 
of Cannington. Whether she passed part of her time in Somerset 
as we sho uld like to believe, has not been discovered. She lived on 
until 1482. Her son had made his peace with Edward I V in 1469, 
and had been restored in honours. 

There is a carved stone fireplace at Can nington Court (stil l in situ 
but in the wall of a passage sliced from a large room) which may 
safely be dated c . 1475. The deep carving of the fo ur q uatrefoil 
panels, and the ta ll narrow t ilting-shields with serrated edges in chief 
a nd in base, are characteristic of t he latter part of the reign of 
Edward IV. There are monograms on either side. That on t he left 
defies elucidation . That on the right may be read as A.P., and it has 
been suggested that the fireplace was a gift from Alianor Poynings 
to the prioress. (Plate I). 
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The na ve a nd chancel of the parish Churc h of Canningto n were 
rebuilt towards the end of the fifteenth century, t he earl ier tower 
being reta ined . As lords of t he mano r a nd pa trons of the living, the 
nuns of Cannington were responsible fo r both nave and cha ncel, 
a nd they a re t hought to have obtained cont ribu tions towards the 
cost fro m their patron, Henry A lgernon, fi fth earl of Northumber­
la nd. Two representat ions of the Poynings badge - a d ragon's head 
between wings addorsed - may be seen flank ing the porch. The 
C hurc h seems to have been enla rged a nd lengthened at t he re­
bu ild ing, a nd the axis, as may be seen on exa minat ion of the east 
side of the tower, was swung southwards to avoid the priory Church , 
the posit ion o f whic h, was so " ha rd anexid" to the new chancel that 
no windows were inserted on the northern side. 

The last prio ress, Cecil ia de Verney, was appoin ted in 1504. 
She was a da ughter of William de Verney of Fairfield from whom 
the present owner of Fa irfield has inherited in di rect succession. 

An account of a visitation of the priory, made by the bishop's 
vica r-general in 1526, has survived in a note-book of the time of 
Henry VIII , preserved in the Diocesan Registry at Well s. T he 
visitation took place on 2 1 August. The prioress and nuns, having 
a ssembled in the c ha pter-ho use, were q uestioned as to the stale of 
t he sisterhood. The oppo rtunity was taken to elect a sub-p rioress, 
the o ffice being vacant. Dame Cecilia, on bei ng examined , stated 
that siste r Elizabeth Bowler6 on pretext of so me past indisposit ion, 
was no t a ttending services in the Ch urch. She a lso stated that sister 
J ulian a Burges was arroga nt. Sister Elizabeth Bowler vo ted for the 
appointment of Jo hanna Towse as sub-pri o ress, a nd said tha t 
insufficient provision was made for t he needs of infirm nuns. She 
a lso said that siste r Ju liana Burges was "stuck up" (e/(l{um habere 
animum), but that otherwise a ll was well . Sister Letesia Pomerey, 
sister J ulia na Burges, a nd s ister Radegunda T illy gave their votes 
fo r the election of Johanna Towse, but sister Ma rgaret Ashley said 
" she cared not who m they chose provided the choice was appro­
priate". Sister Jo ha nna Towse said that a ll was well except that 
siste r Juliana Burges was somewhat a rrogant. 

6 'Bowler' or 'Bowser' seem to be sixteenth century varianl5 of the name 
' Bouchier'. Catherine Bowser or Bouchier was last prioress of Minchin 
Buckland. 
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On the following day, sister Johanna Towse was duly installed 
as sub-prioress. She is believed to have been the seventh daughter 
of John Towse of Taunton, a wealthy cloth-dyer, and perhaps also 
wool-merchant7. 

lt may be seen from t he visitation of 1526 that t here were only 
seven nuns at Cannington in August of t hat year. We have no 
information as to the number of t he sisters ten years later at the 
time of the dissolution: dame Cecilia, however, st ill survived as 
prioress. 

The new learning, half-assimilated by public opin ion, had 
destroyed t he general acceptance of the monastic life as part of the 
established order of society. Cannington was one of the first nun­
neries to be dissolved. The formal act of suppression took p lace on 
23 September J 536, and the property of the priory passed into the 
hands of the king. lt consisted of the lands round the priory, the 
rectory with the manor of Cannington, single tenements at Blagdon 
and Fiddington, land at Pawlett, single tenements at Stowey, at 
Bristol, and at Skilgate. In Dorset, there was the free chapel of 
Puddlewalterston and a small property annexed. rn Devon, the 
rectory of Witheridge with a small property attached; and also a 
small property at Goodleigh. 

I l. 
In 1538, Henry VI II " of specia l grace, and in consideration of 

good, true and faithful service" granted to his servant Edward Rogers 
who had been in possession as "farmer" or lessee since the dissolution, 
"the whole house and site of the late priory of Cannington in the 
county of Somerset, and a ll the Church, bell-tower, and cemetery 
of the said late p riory. A lso all messuages, houses, buildings, 
gra na ries, stables, dove-cotes, gardens, orchards, &c., as well within 
as without, and adjacent o r near to the site, sept, circuit, precinct, &c. 
of the said late priory. Also all t he m anor of Cannington, and a ll the 
rectory of Cannington and t he nomination and presentation to the 
vicarage of Cannington whensoever vacant, with a ll the rights, 
members and appurtenances belonging to the said late priory. A lso 
a ll messuages, lands, tenements, mills, meadows, pastures, woods, 
pensions, portions, tithes, offerings and emoluments whatsoever, 
as well temporal as spiritual, situate, lyi ng or being in Cannington, 

7 S .R.S., XXXIX, 221; XIX, 25 . 
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Pawlett, Stowey, and F iddington in the county of Somerset or else­
where soever". The property was rated at the clear a nn ual value of 
forty-fi ve pounds, eight shill ings and ten pence; and it was to be 
held by Edwa rd Rogers, "and the heirs m ale of I1is body lawfully 
begotten, in c hief, by the service of a tenth part of one kn ight's fee, 
and a yearly rent of sixteen pounds, eight shillings and ten pence". 
The gra nt was dated at Westminster on 8 May. In 1546, Rogers 
recei ved a similar grant of the ma nor of Radway a nd the hundred 
of Cannington. 

In comparison with the terms of many grants of monastic 
property made by Henry V 11 I, the provisions were not generous. 
The rela tively lligh rent to the crown, and the restriction to heirs 
ma le, were irksome. A little later, the king granted or sold o ut­
lying portions of the estates of the priory to certa in of those pur­
chasers of m onastic property whose names occur so frequently in the 
records of the t ime. 

Edward Rogers was born c. 1498. He was one of the first 
Devonians who carved o ut careers for themselves at the court of 
the Tudors. There ca n be no doubt that he obtained his ini t ial 
introductio n to the great world t hrough his grandmother, Catherine 
Courtenay, who died in 15 15. She was the da ughter of sir William 
Courtenay of Powderham and was married at an early age to sir 
St. Cla ire Pomeroy - a fitting all ia nce. There were no children of 
the ma rriage, and after his death, she married Thomas Rogers of 
Bradfo rd-on-Avon, sergeant-at-law, by whom she had a son, 
George Rogers. She married t hird ly sir Will iam Huddesfield, 
Attorney G eneral to Edward IV, a nd subseq uently a councillo r of 
H enry VII. George Rogers held a few scattered properties in 
Somerset, but is described in a herald 's vis itation as of Luppitt in 
Devon . T here, as is believed, he acted as stewa rd to the Carews who 
had their chief seat at Mohun' s Ottery in that pa rish, a nd with 
whom there was a c lose connection t hrough the Co urtenays and the 
H uddesfields - a connection very valua ble to his son, Edward. 
As his cous in s, the Carews, advanced in fa vour with He nry VIII , so 
did young Edward Rogers ad vance at court in a somewhat humbler 
sphere. His name occurs in 1524 as "of the c hamber" . Later, he was 
esq uire of the body to Henry VIII. 

Edward Rogers was ba iliff of Sandga te a nd Hamp ness from 1534 
to I 540. After he became o f Cannington, he soon began to take 
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some part in co unty affairs, a nd in 1544 was captain of two hundred 
men in the local musters. His favour continued under Edward YI, 
and he was knighted at t he young king's coronation. In 1549 he 
became one of the chief gentlemen of the privy chamber. When the 
Protector Somerset fe ll in 1550, sir Edward Rogers was for a time 
confined to his house in connection with the misdemeanours of the 
earl of A rundel, but his credit was not seriously injured, and in 1552 
he received a grant of a hundred ma rks a year . ln 1553, he first sat 
in parliament as a member for Somerset, and in the same year 
obtained a gra nt of East Pennard, one of the numerous estates which 
bad been forfeited on the attainder of the Protector. He a lso had a 
house at Pilton which he sometimes occupied. In February 1554, 
sir Edward was imprisoned in the Tower by queen Mary T udor. 
Having remained there for about a year, he was released and a llowed 
to go abroad, but in 1558 he was again in England and was a member 
for Somerset in the last parl ia ment of the reign. 

When Elizabeth I ascended the throne, sir Edward was too old 
to be regarded as a rising courtier, but the young queen trusted him, 
and at her first privy counci l she made him a privy councillor and 
deputy captain of the guard. Later, she made him captain of t he 
guard, a nd in 1560 comptroller of the household. He conti nued to 
sit as a member for Somerset. In 1565 or I 566 he resigned the 
comptrollersh ip, and was speaker of the ho use of commons in the 
latter year, and until he died in 1567. 

A portrait of sir Edward Rogers, bearing the date 1567, but 
probably painted a few years earlier, as he is shown holding the 
white wand o f the comptroller, was acquired for the National 
Portrait Gallery in 195 I . (Pl. fl ) . 

It is un likely that many cha nges were made in the buildi ngs at 
Cannington in the time of sir Edward Rogers or of his son, sir 
George, apart from the destruction of the nuns' Church and bell­
tower. Sir Edward, however, seems to have inserted the doorway 
with four-centred a rch and carved spandrels, st ill to be seen above 
a modern building on the east of the courtyard, but formerly 
approached by a fli ght of steps. This doorway led into a screens­
passage introduced at the end of the nuns' dormitory, and the room 
was th us turned into a hall of normal domestic type. 

Sir George Rogers was recorded to be forty years of age and 
upwards when he inherited . He had a far less active career than his 
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fat her , but was a county member in the parliament of 1571, and 
served as sheriff for Somerset in the same years. 

The .interest in the neighbourhood of Porlock, which was to play 
so important a part in t he fortunes of the Rogers fa mily, began 
through sir George's wife, Jane, daughter of Edmund Wynter. 
Her mother was Eleanor, daughter of Silvester Sydenham, and she 
acquired a rent charge in the manor of Bossington near Porlock 
through the Sydenhams. From her father, she inherited severa l 
manors in Cornwall. Sir George died in 1582, leaving a direction in 
his will that his widow should occupy his mansion at Cannington, 
but she preferred to spend as much time as possible at Bath in order 
to be near her daughter Mary, the wife of the courtier-poet, the 
Rabelaisian sir John Harington of Kelston. " Dame Jane Rogers, by 
her deed dated 20th September 1594, gave to her only daughter, 
Mary, her own coat of arms (Wynter) with five others quartered 
therewith", and this remarkable transaction was "afterwards con­
firmed by the College of Arms" . The quarterings were bro ught in 
by the heiresses of certai n families whose manors had been inherited 
by Jane Rogers - manors which Harington was hoping to acquire. 
W hen she lay dying in 1602, he went to Cannington, broke open her 
chests, and endeavoured to take possession of her property. H er 
death was followed by a Star Chamber su it9 . 

T he priory may first have been called the "Court H o use" or 
"Cannington Court" in the t ime of sir George's son, Edward. 
When Edward Rogers inherited, he seems only lately to have 
attained his majority. It is inferred that he decided at once to 
modernize the ancient buildings. The work executed for him is so 
similar to that carried out at Combe Sydenham for one of his 
Sydenham cousins a year or two previously that we may presume 
the same builder-architect was employed. A ll the medieval windows 
at Cannington were ripped out, and large Elizabethan windows, 
well-proportioned, but with mullions and transoms on wh ich t he 
moulding was of somewhat indifferent quality, were inserted . As t he 
moulding is not of completely consistent design throughout t he 
building, it seems t hat the whole transformation was not effected 

8 For the Rogers family, see Brown's mss., Taunton Castle. 

9 Sir John Maclean, Trigg Minor, HI, 258; Coll. of Arms mss., Isaac Heard's 
Misc. Pedigrees, VI, fo. 385; Star Chamber Suit Depositions, Coll. of Arms, 
Talbot Papers, Vol. M, 249. 
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simultaneously ; probably the work rwas carried through within a 
decade. The particularly large windows in the west wall of the 
former dormitory were, perhaps, the last to be provided. 

The oblong block on the north of the cou rtyard, the original 
o utline of which has become blurred by later accretions a nd can 
only be traced on a gro und-plan, had, no doubt, contained the 
refectory and domestic offices. It was used still for domestic purposes. 

The range of buildings, which forms the west front, is thought to 
have contained the prioress's lodging to the south of the entrance, 
and to the north, perhaps the guest-chambers of the priory. Thi s 
range may have been prolonged northward by Edward Rogers, but it 
is difficult here to distinguish Tudor from medieval masonry, for the 
traditional method of building was used and the same local stone 
in both periods. The staircase-turret in a corner of the courtyard , 
however, is certainly post-reformation. 

The porch added to the west facade by the young Edward Rogers 
must originally have been very similar to that at Combe Sydenham. 
Shorn of most of its ornament, it is scarcely worthy of its position. 
The effect of the whole facade was marred towards the end of the 
seventeenth century by the addit ion of a third sto rey. 

It is surprising that the medieval oak grill. heavi ly bound in iron, 
was retained at the time of the Tudor reconstruction. The gri ll still 
survives and is in the form of a pair of gates which fold back into 
recesses in the walls on either side of the entrance to the inner court­
yard . There can be little doubt that it marks the point beyond which 
no lay person was allowed to pass without special permission from 
the prioress. The design and workmanship suggest the mid-four­
teenth century, a nd it m ay well have been erected after the troubles 
of 135 I. A simple entrance with a horizontal beam above, supporting 
a superstructure, was common in the bartons of west Somerset. 
A good example may be seen at Bratton Court. The sha pe of the 
grill indicates that the early entra nce to the inner buildings of the 
priory was of this primitive type. A more imposing gateway must 
ha ve been a feature of the entrance to the precinct, the walls of 
which, preserved by the Rogers fa mily, remain a lmost intact to the 
present day. 

The you ng Edward Rogers married Catherine, one of the 
daughters of sir John Popham of Wellington, Attorney General to 
Elizabeth[, and eventually Lord Chief J ustice. Popham's sons-in-law 
were chosen with care. 
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In 1606, Edward Rogers bought Worthy manor near Porlock, 
and in 1610 he acqui red the whole manor o f Po rlock from a company 
of land adventurers for the sum of £1,913. We know t hat he had 
fou r sons and seven daughters, but t here may have been other 
child ren who d id not survive infancy. When Edward Rogers died in 
1627, he was succeeded at Cannington by his eldest son , Francis, 
the Porlock estate being left to his second son, George10. 

F rancis Rogers was knighted by Charles I, but we have singularly 
few particulars of his career. By his wife, Helena, daughter of sir 
Hugh Smyth of Long Ashto n, he left at his death on 28 Augusl l 638, 
a n o nly son, Hugh, sta ted then to have been a bout sixteen and a ha lf 
yea rs old. Hugh married, apparent ly wit hin a year of his father's 
death, Ann, daughter of sir Edward Bayntun o f Bromham in Wilts. 

George Rogers, the eldest of H ugh's uncles, died unma rried in 
1637, leaving the Porlock estates to his yo unger brothers, Edward 
a nd Henry, but Hugh was to inherit them if he attained his m ajori ty. 
T hey were to be held in tail m ale. Edward R ogers d ied in 1639. 
The succession to Cannington was becoming precarious. T he only 
surviving heirs male of sir Ed ward Rogers were Hugh, the young 
squ ire, and Henry, who was unma rried . 

At t he outbrea k of the civil war, Hugh joined his Popham 
cousins a nd his father-in-law, sir Edward Bayntun, who were 
actively engaged on t he side of the parliam ent, and in due course 
he became a colonel in the pa rlia men tary army. He died in September 
1653, and was buried by night in the chancel of Cannington C hurch. 
Somerset Quarter Sessions records contain depositions regarding 
certain happenings at t he funeral. It seem s that John Skutt of 
Kingston, who was present at the buria l, stooped down in t he sta irs 
of the vault and took away a linen sheet that was on t he coffin ; and 
that being met afterwards by Christopher Gadd of Cheddon and 
asked what he had under his a rm, Skutt said, " I could find it in my 
heart to have a bout at t hose scutcheons", and furt her sa id, " Yes, 
I have gotten the linen". Presumably t he linen sheet was a pa ll on 
which coats of arms were painted. On being examined, Skutt stated 
t hat "he had taken t he sheet from t he coffin and had carried it 
through the Church with intent to convey it into the house, but a 
tall woman meeting him by the way, demanded the sam e of him, 

10 C hadwick Healey, History of Part of West Somerset, 292, 322. 
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the which he delivered unto her, but her name he knew not" 11 . 

The Cannington and the Porlock estates passed to Henry Rogers, 
but Hugh left a daughter, Helena, who married her cousin, si r 
Francis Popham of Littlecote. Henry Rogers was a lso a parlia­
mentarian, and was pricked as sheri ff of Somerset a year after his 
nephew's death. He was active as a magistrate under the Com mon­
wealth and after the Restoration, but he was still unmarried, and it 
became accepted that he would be the last male descendant of s ir 
Edward Rogers, and that before long, Cannington would lapse to 
the Crown. l n a long wi ll, he provided elaborately for the succession 
to his other estates, and he founded a valuable charity at Cannington. 
Much property passed to the descendants of his sister, Amy, who 
had married Henry St. Barbe of Ashington near Yeovil and Broad­
lands in Hampshire. She had died in 162 1 aged thirty-three, and there 
is a monument in local a labaster to her memory in Cannington 
Church. The Porlock estates passed first to Henry Rogers's great­
great-nephew, Alexander Popham of Littlecote, who died without 
male issue in 1705. It was provided in the wi ll that if the male issue 
or Alexander Popham failed, the Porlock estates were to pass to the 
heir of line of Henry's sister, Mary, who had married si r George 
Winter of Dyrham in Gloucestershire, son of the John Winter who 
had been Drake's second in command on the advent urous voyage 
to the Pacific in 1577. In 1705, William Blathwayt was the represent­
ative of sir George Winter and Mary Rogers, his wife. He was t he 
son of William ITI 's Secretary of State, William Blathwayt, who had 
won the hand of Mary Winter, heiress of Dyrham - as it is said, by 
defeating a rival in a duel in Dyrham park. The Blathwayt family 
are accounted t he representatives of Henry Rogers, and still own 
the greater part of the Porlock estates. 

In anticipation ofthe reversion of Cannington, Charles [[ in 1662 
granted a financial interest in the property for thirty-one years after 
it should lapse to the crown, to sir John Mennes, an old cavalier, 
and to Robert Phelips, who had acted as guide during part of the 
flight from Worcester - a younger brother of the squire of Montacute. 
A li fe interest was also granted to sir Thomas Daniell. But Henry 
Rogers was "an unconscionable time a'dying", and was still alive 
ten years later. 

11 This incident is dealt with more fully by Dr. Thomas Barnes in Somerset and 
Dorset Notes and Queries, X XVI, 230. 
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fn 1672, the revers ion seemed to be imminent, and on 15 Ju ly, 
Charles II granted Cannington, subject to the interest of Henry 
Rogers and the heirs of sir John Mennes and of Robert PheJjps, to 
be held in socage by T homas, Lord Clifford of Chudleigh, Lord 
Treasurer of the ho usehold. Henry Rogers died o n or about the 
second of September of the same year. 

111. 

Thomas Clifford of Ugbrooke in the parish of Chudleigh came 
of a Devon ian fam ily. He was born in 1630, and was at Oxford 
during the Commonwealth, taking his degree in 1650. He afterwards 
read law and became a barrister of the Middle Temple. At t he 
restoration he was elected member fo r Totnes, but his duties in 
parliament did not prevent him from dist inguishing himself in 
several naval actions, and he was knighted. When the Dutch war 
ended in 1669, as a zealous promoter of the French interest, he was 
opposed to the ensuing treaty, and became o ne of the five councillors 
who formed the Cabal. The treaty of Dover of June 1670 was main ly 
his work, and in 1672 he was created Baron Cl ifford of Chud leigh. 
He was Lord High T reasurer from November 1672 until June 1673, 
when, the Test Act having been passed, as he had already declared 
himself a Roman Catholic, he fe lt bound to resign. He died at 
Ugbrooke on 17 October 1673, thirteen months after the grant o f 
Cannington had taken effect. Pepys wrote of him in 1666 as "much 
set by at Court for his activity in going to sea, and stoutness every­
where and stirring up and down" ; and Evelyn described him later as 
"a valiant uncorrupt gentleman, ambitious not covetous ; generous, 
passionate, a most constant sincere friend" . 

T he second Lord Clifford was only about ten years old when he 
succeeded his father. It is believed that he added the thi rd storey to 
the west front of Cannington Court soon after attain ing his majority. 
Red brick instead of the traditional stone was used , giving an 
incongruous effect which is further increased by the introduction of 
lune/le windows. He died on 12 October 1730, at Can nington, and 
a lthough a Catholic was buried in the parish Church. The fine, 
wrought-iron grill on the north side of the chancel seems to have 
been erected by him to d ivide the family vault from the body of the 
Church and the gaze of the protestant congregation. Towards the 
end of his life, he is t hought to have bui lt the 'chapel' at Cannington 
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Court, causing it to be specially designed for the performance o f 
sacred music12. This chapel or music room is not o nly by far the 
most interesting architectural feature at Cannington, but one of the 
finest Georgian rooms in Somerset. The proportions are more 
distinguished than those of the large rooms in Bath designed by the 
Wood fami ly at a slight ly later date. It is octagonal and has a 
coffered dome of the type so frequent ly introduced for acoustic 
reasons in the eighteenth century music rooms. The Corinthian 
capitals of the pi lasters appear to be of precisely the same design as 
those in the hal l at Wingerworth in Derbyshire - a house built for 
sir Windsor HunJoke, who also adhered to the old faith. The architect 
employed at Wingerwo,-th is said to have been 'Smith of Warwick', 
and it is possible that he was employed also by Lord C lifford. T he 
effectiveness of the room has lost nothing by the simplicity of its 
present decoration. Originally, no doubt, it was colo ured more 
richly and in more variety. The large, flat panels were, perhaps­
again for acoustic reasons - covered with tapestry or ha ngi ngs. 

The six elder sons of the second Lord Clifford died during his 
lifetime, a nd he was succeeded by his seventh son, who survived him 
only eighteen months. His grandson, Hugh, fourth Lord Clifford, 
rebuilt the house at Ugbrooke in 1760 and died in 1783. It is doubtful 
whether he lived at Cannington in his later years, for Cannington 
Court fe ll into disrepair a nd is described by Collinson in 1791 as 
" the old ruinous mansion of the lords Clifford". The fifth Lord 
Clifford passed the greater part of his time on the continent, a nd 
died at Munic h in 1793, being succeeded by his brother, who did not 
a ttempt to li ve at Cannington but converted the house for use once 
more as a nunnery. 

In the reign of Louis XV I there was a religious house in Paris 
called the Priory of Our Lady of Good Hope - a daughter house 
of the Abbey of English nuns at Cambray. The nuns were taken from 
Paris during the Revolution and were imprisoned at Vincennes, but 
eventually they were able to come to England. They went first to 
Mamhull in Dorset, and then in 1806 accepted t he hospitality of 
Lord Clifford and came to Cannington. Jn spite of a ll the changes 
that had taken place there since 1536, the building was still admirably 
adapted for their purposes. They too, li ke their predecessors at 

12 There is a tradition that the "chapel" was built in 1806, and it may be infer red 
that it was restored in that year, or that the sanctuary was then added. 
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Cannington in the middle ages, were Benedictine nuns. They re­
ma ined at Cannington until 1835 o r 1836. The community is now 
at Colwich in Staffordshi re. 

When Hugo wrote his notes on Canyngton Priory , the house was 
deserted a nd tenantless, but in 1863 a community of Sisters of the 
Most H oly Sacram ent came to England fro m France, and were 
a llowed to settle at Cannington Court. Their house had been at 
Bolle ne in the Department o f Vauclure. 1 n 1867 the sisterhood 
acq uired St. Pa ul 's House in Taunto n. 

For many yea rs Cannington Cou,_t was used as a school fo r 
Roman Catholic boys, but the school was moved eventually to 
Prior Pa rk on the outskirts of Bath. 

In 1919, the tenth Lord Clifford of Chudleigh granted a long 
lease of Cann ington Court to the Somerset County Council , and 
the ho use was adapted for use as a Farm Institute. 

During t he course of eight centuries, the precinct of Can nington 
has been the setting for very varied activities, but none have been 
mo re valuable to the county than that fo1 which it has been used in 
the past fo11y years 1J _ 

13 The writer's thanks a re due to Dom. Aelred W a tkin for information relating 
to the Prio ry of Our Lady of Good Hope, and to Mr. f. P. Collis, County 
Archivist, for assistance in research. 


